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Gary D. McCollum, Esqg., Alliance Coal, LLC, Lexington, Kentucky for
Respondent

Before: Susan L. Biro, Chief Administrative Law Judge, U.S. EPA*

On November 24, 2009, the Secretary of Labor (“Secretary”), acting through the Mine
Safety and Health Administration (“MSHA”), filed a Petition for the Assessment of Civil Penalty
(“Petition”) against Excel Mining, LLC (“Respondent” or “Excel”), pursuant to Sections 105 and
110 of the Federal Mine Safety and Health Act of 1977 (“Mine Act” or “Act”), as amended, 30
U.S.C. 8§ 815, 820 (2006). Respondent subsequently filed an Answer to Petition for the
Assessment of Civil Penalty (“Answer”) on December 15, 2009. By Order of Robert J. Lesnick,
Chief Administrative Law Judge of the Federal Mine Safety and Health Review Commission
(“Commission”), dated December 1, 2010, the case was assigned to the undersigned for
adjudication.

! The Administrative Law Judges of the United States Environmental Protection Agency are
authorized to hear cases pending before the Federal Mine Safety and Health Review Commission

pursuant to an Inter-Agency Agreement effective for a period beginning September 2, 2010.
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The Petition alleges six violations described in Citation Numbers 8231582, 8231583,
8231586, 8236506, 8236514 and 8236515, each of which were issued pursuant to Section 104(a)
of the Act, 30 U.S.C. § 814(a), and for which the Secretary seeks penalties totaling $13,572. In
particular, Citation Number 8231582 alleges a violation of 30 C.F.R. § 75.370(a)(1) for failure to
comply with an approved ventilation plan. Citation Number 8231583 alleges a violation of 30
C.F.R. 8 75.362(a)(2) for failure to conduct an adequate onshift examination. Citation Number
8231586 alleges a violation of 30 C.F.R. 8 75.503 for failure to maintain a roof bolter machine in
permissible condition. Citation Number 8236506 alleges a violation of 30 C.F.R. § 75.400 for
allowing accumulations of combustible materials to exist in an active working section. Citation
Number 8236514 alleges a violation of 30 C.F.R. § 75.503 for failure to maintain a continuous
miner machine in permissible condition. Finally, Citation Number 8236515 alleges a violation
30 C.F.R. § 75.370(a)(1) for failure to comply with an approved ventilation plan.

A hearing was held on the charged violations in Pikeville, Kentucky on October 18 and
19, 2011. At the hearing, the Secretary introduced the testimony of one witness, Billy Ray
Meddings, and proffered nine exhibits that were admitted into evidence and marked as the
Secretary’s Exhibits (“S’s Ex.”) 1-9. Respondent stipulated to these exhibits at the hearing.
Transcript (“Tr.””) 192. Respondent, in turn, introduced the testimony of three witnesses, Jimmy
Lindell Rowe, Keith Stevens, and Ronnie Johnson. The Secretary and Respondent subsequently
filed post-hearing briefs on January 9, 2012, and February 6, 2012, respectively. With the latter
filing, the record closed.

I. STIPULATIONS
Before the hearing, the parties entered into the following stipulations (“Stip”):
1. Respondent is subject to the Mine Act.
2. Respondent has an effect upon interstate commerce within the meaning of the Mine Act.

3. Respondent is subject to the jurisdiction of the Commission, and the presiding
Administrative Law Judge has the authority to hear this case and issue a decision.

4. Respondent operates the No. 3 Mine, 1.D. No. 15-08079.

5. The No. 3 Mine produced 1,789,927 tons of coal in 2008, and had 655,991 hours worked
in 2008.

6. A reasonable penalty will not affect Respondent’s ability to remain in business.
Il. BURDEN OF PROOF
In a civil penalty proceeding, the Secretary bears the burden of proving the alleged
violation by a preponderance of the evidence. Consolidation Coal Co., 11 FMSHRC 966, 973

(June 1989) (citing 30 U.S.C. § 823(d)(2); Kenny Richardson, 3 FMSHRC 8, 12 n.7 (Jan. 1981)).
This standard requires the Secretary to demonstrate that “the existence of a fact is more probable



than its nonexistence.” RAG Cumberland Res. Corp., 22 FMSHRC 1066, 1070 (Sept. 2000)
(citations omitted).

I11. PENALTY PRINCIPLES

To determine the appropriate amount of civil monetary penalty to assess, Section 110(i)
of the Mine Act requires the Commission to consider the following factors: (1) the operator’s
history of previous violations; (2) the appropriateness of such penalty to the size of the business
of the operator charged; (3) whether the operator was negligent; (4) the effect on the operator’s
ability to continue in business; (5) the gravity of the violation; and (6) the demonstrated good
faith of the person charged in attempting to achieve rapid compliance after notification of a
violation. 30 U.S.C. § 820(i). Set forth at 30 C.F.R. § 100.3, MSHA promulgated regulations
that elaborate upon these factors in order to facilitate the calculation of a civil penalty to propose
for charged violations. The undersigned is not bound by these regulations or the penalty
proposed by the Secretary, however. 29 C.F.R. § 2700.30(b); Sellersburg Stone Co., 5 FMSHRC
287, 291-92 (Mar. 1983), aff’d, 736 F.2d 1147 (7th Cir. 1984). Rather, the undersigned is
required to determine the appropriate assessment independently by proper consideration of the
six penalty criteria identified above. Id.

The concepts of gravity and negligence are applicable to all citations and orders issued
pursuant to the Mine Act, and form part of the penalty assessment scheme used by MSHA and its
inspectors. For certain violations found to be “significant and substantial” or to involve
“unwarrantable failure,” enhanced enforcement mechanisms are available under Section
104(d)(1) of the Act, which provides:

If, upon any inspection of a coal or other mine, an authorized representative of the
Secretary finds that there has been a violation of any mandatory health or safety
standard, and if he also finds that, while the conditions created by such violation
do not cause imminent danger, such violation is of such nature as could
significantly and substantially contribute to the cause and effect of a coal or other
mine safety or health hazard, and if he finds such violation to be caused by an
unwarrantable failure of such operator to comply with such mandatory health or
safety standards, he shall include such finding in any citation given to the operator
under this Act. If, during the same inspection or any subsequent inspection of
such mine within 90 days after the issuance of such citation, an authorized
representative of the Secretary finds another violation of any mandatory health or
safety standard and finds such violation to be also caused by an unwarrantable
failure of such operator to so comply, he shall forthwith issue an order requiring
the operator to cause all persons in the area affected by such violation, except
those persons referred to in subsection (c) of this section to be withdrawn from,
and to be prohibited from entering, such area until an authorized representative of
the Secretary determines that such violation has been abated.

30 U.S.C. § 814(d)(1). As the Commission succinctly explained in a recent decision, “Section
104(d)(1) distinguishes as more serious any violation that ‘could significantly and substantially
contribute to the cause and effect of a . . . mine safety or health hazard,” and establishes more



severe sanctions for any violation that is caused by ‘an unwarrantable failure of [an] operator to
comply with . . . mandatory health or safety standards.””” Wolf Run Mining Co., 2013 WL
1249150, *2 n.4 (Mar. 20, 2013) (alteration in original). This mechanism for enhanced
enforcement serves as a “forceful incentive for the operator to exercise special vigilance in health
and safety matters.” Emery Mining Corp., 9 FMSHRC 1997, 2000 (Dec. 1987) (citing Nacco
Mining Co., 9 FMSHRC 1541, 1546 (Sept. 1987)). The legal standards applicable to each of
these concepts are described below.

A. GRAVITY

In order to determine the appropriate amount of civil monetary penalty to assess, Section
110(1) of the Mine Act requires the Commission to consider “the gravity of the violation,” among
other criteria. 30 U.S.C. § 820(i). Gravity is “often viewed in terms of the seriousness of the
violation.” Consolidation Coal Co., 18 FMSHRC 1541, 1549 (Sept. 1996). Pursuant to the
regulations promulgated at 30 C.F.R. § 100.3(e), the Secretary analyzes the seriousness of a
violation with reference to three factors: (1) the likelihood of occurrence of the event against
which a standard is directed; (2) the severity of the illness or injury if the event has occurred or
was to occur; and (3) the number of persons potentially affected if the event has occurred or were
to occur.

B. SIGNIFICANT AND SUBSTANTIAL

As discussed in greater detail below, the Secretary alleges that five of the alleged
violations at issue in this proceeding were of a significant and substantial (“S&S”) nature. As
defined by Section 104(d)(1) of the Mine Act, an S&S violation is a violation “of such nature as
could significantly and substantially contribute to the cause and effect of a . . . mine safety or
health hazard.” 30 U.S.C. § 814(d)(1). The Commission first interpreted this statutory language
in Cement Division, National Gypsum Company, 3 FMSHRC 822 (April 1981), holding that a
violation is properly designated as S&S “if, based upon the particular facts surrounding the
violation, there exists a reasonable likelihood that the hazard contributed to will result in an
injury or illness of a reasonably serious nature.” Nat’l Gypsum, 3 FMSHRC at 825. The
Commission later elaborated on this standard in Mathies Coal Company, 6 FMSHRC 1 (Jan.
1984) (“Mathies”):

In order to establish that a violation of a mandatory safety standard is significant
and substantial under National Gypsum, the Secretary of Labor must prove: (1)
the underlying violation of a mandatory safety standard; (2) a discrete safety
hazard—that is, a measure of danger to safety—contributed to by the violation;
(3) a reasonable likelihood that the hazard contributed to will result in an injury;
and (4) a reasonable likelihood that the injury in question will be of a reasonably
serious nature. As a practical matter, the last two elements will often be
combined in a single showing.

Mathies, 6 FMSHRC at 3-4 (footnote omitted).



The S&S nature of a violation is distinct from the violation’s gravity. As noted by the
Commission, “[t]he focus of the seriousness of the violation is not necessarily on the reasonable
likelihood of serious injury, which is the focus of the S&S inquiry, but rather on the effect of the
hazard if it occurs.” Consolidation Coal Co., 18 FMSHRC at 1550. The Commission has also
emphasized that in accordance with the language of Section 104(d)(1), 30 U.S.C. 8§ 814(d)(1),
the S&S nature of a violation stems from “a reasonable likelihood that the [cited] condition . . .
could contribute, significantly and substantially, to the cause and effect of a safety hazard.” U.S.
Steel Mining Co., Inc., 6 FMSHRC 1573, 1574-75 (July 1984). Thus, “it is the contribution of a
violation to the cause and effect of a hazard that must be significant and substantial.” U.S. Steel
Mining Co., Inc., 6 FMSHRC 1866, 1868 (Aug. 1984) (emphasis added). Finally, the S&S
inquiry must be made in the context of continued normal mining operations. U.S. Steel Mining
Co., 6 FMSHRC at 1574.

C. NEGLIGENCE

In order to determine the appropriate amount of civil monetary penalty to assess, Section
110(1) of the Mine Act requires the Commission to also consider “whether the operator was
negligent.” 30 U.S.C. § 820(1). Thus, “[e]ach mandatory standard . . . carries with it an
accompanying duty of care to avoid violations of the standard, and an operator’s failure to meet
the appropriate duty can lead to a finding of negligence if a violation of the standard occurs.”
A.H. Smith Stone Co., 5 FMSHRC 13, 15 (Jan. 1983).

The Secretary defines negligence as follows:

Negligence is conduct, either by commission or omission, which falls below a
standard of care established under the Mine Act to protect miners against the risks
of harm. Under the Mine Act, an operator is held to a high standard of care. A
mine operator is required to be on the alert for conditions and practices in the
mine that affect the safety or health of miners and to take steps necessary to
correct or prevent hazardous conditions or practices. The failure to exercise a
high standard of care constitutes negligence.

30 C.F.R. § 100.3(d). When analyzing an operator’s negligence, the Secretary considers
mitigating circumstances, such as actions taken by the operator to remedy hazardous conditions
or practices. Id.

IV. SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE

In support of the facts underlying the alleged violations and proposed penalties, the
Secretary offered the testimony of MSHA Inspector Billy Ray Meddings and copies of the six
citations at issue, the field notes of Inspector Meddings, a document entitled “Assessed Violative
History Report,” and the revised basic ventilation plan for Respondent’s Number 3 Mine.
Respondent, in turn, offered the testimony of Jimmy Lindell Rowe, Terry K. (“Keith”) Stevens,
and Ronnie Johnson.



Admitted into evidence as Secretary’s Exhibits 1 through 6 respectively, Citation
Numbers 8231582, 8231583, 8231586, 8236506, 8236514, and 8236515 were issued by
Inspector Meddings between August 5, 2009 and August 28, 2009, as he performed an EO1
inspection? of Respondent’s Number 3 Mine. S’s Ex. 1-6; Tr. 193. At that time, Number 3
Mine was comprised of four working sections. Tr. 333. Each section was divided further into
two production operations, designated as “super sections” or “MMUSs,” meaning that two
continuous miner machines were operated in each section and the sections were ventilated using
a “fishtail ventilation” system. Tr. 333-34. In turn, each super section consisted of nine entries.
Tr. 347.

A AUGUST 5, 2009

Inspector Billy Ray Meddings had been a member of the coal mining industry for over 30
years, including four and a half years as an inspector for MSHA.. Inspector Meddings inspected
the Number 4 section of Number 3 Mine on August 5, 2009, accompanied by Keith Stevens, an
electrician who had been employed by Respondent for 11 years. Tr. 190-91, 232-33, 305-06;
S’s Ex. 7. Upon arriving at the Number 4 section with Mr. Stevens, Inspector Meddings briefly
spoke to the day shift foreman and then proceeded to perform an “imminent danger run,” which,
according to Inspector Meddings, typically takes him 10 to 20 minutes to complete. Tr. 234-36.
At the hearing, Inspector Meddings could not recall whether Mr. Stevens was present when he
performed the imminent danger run. Tr. 235, 237. Thereafter, Inspector Meddings inspected a
“scrubber”® on the continuous miner machine in the active 039-0 MMU and determined that it
was generating only 3739 cubic feet per minute (“CFM”) of air, in contravention of

2 Inspector Meddings explained that an EO1 inspection is performed four times a year at a given
mine and requires an inspection of “everything in the mine, all the airways, all the equipment, all
their records, everything at that mine.” Tr. 273—75. He further explained that the duration of an
EO1 inspection depends upon the size of the mine, but that larger mines like those operated by
Respondent can take up to three months. Tr. 273-75.

® Inspector Meddings described a scrubber as a device affixed to a continuous miner machine
that uses water to filter the respirable dust generated by the miner out of the air:

A scrubber more or less is a air generating suction device that’s on top of a miner.
It will inhale all the dust, everything toward the face. It’ll pull it through a filter
system, the filter’s got a water spray system on it. That’s the first line. And then
it starts taking the particles out of it, then it goes through a demister, and demister
takes the other particles of respirable dust out of it, and then it ejects just the air.
So it actually filters, you know, the respirable dust out.

Tr. 196; see also Tr. 200. He explained that scrubbers operate in conjunction with another
system of water sprays at “the ripper head of the miner,” which “try to get as much of [the dust]
as it can soaked.” Tr. 200-01. He further explained that an operator is not required to use a
scrubber when the depth of penetration of an entry is no greater than 20 feet but that because
Respondent’s Number 3 Mine “normally all the time runs deep cuts, . . . they’ll normally run the
scrubber all the time, . . . even starting off at zero cuts.” Tr. 195; see also Tr. 201-02.



Respondent’s revised basic ventilation plan. Tr. 193, 196-97, 232; S’s Ex. 1, 7. This plan,
proffered by the Secretary and admitted into evidence as Secretary’s Exhibit 9, requires a
scrubber output of 4800 CFM. S’s Ex. 9.

At the hearing, Inspector Meddings described the manner in which he typically measures
the output of scrubbers, testifying that he uses a “Magna Healy gauge™ to take three readings in
each of a scrubber’s port holes and then performs the necessary calculations to convert those
readings to the output figure. Tr. 197-99. He maintained that he measured the output of the
subject scrubber in this manner. Tr. 238-39. Additionally, his field notes reflect that he took
two sets of such readings and found the output of the scrubber to be 3739 CFM based upon the
first set of readings. S’s Ex. 7. He testified that he took the second set of readings after
Respondent’s agents attempted to fix the scrubber by “clean[ing] the screen out more” and
“fix[ing] the leaks on it.” Tr. 199-200. However, because he calculated a lower output figure
based upon the second set of readings, he disregarded those measurements and issued Citation
Number 8231582 at 3:40 p.m. based upon the output figure of 3739 CFM that he initially
calculated. Tr.200; S’s Ex. 1, 7. He subsequently terminated the Citation on August 6, 2009,
noting that “[t]he scrubber motor has been replaced . . . and scrubber output is above the
minimum 4800 CFM as required by the approved ventilation plan.” S’s Ex. 1; see also Tr. 205.

When questioned by Respondent’s counsel, Inspector Meddings affirmed that the
continuous miner machine “[p]robably more than likely” was backed away from the face of the
mine at the time he inspected it and that it, therefore, was not producing any coal. Tr. 236-37.
However, he denied having any knowledge as to whether Respondent’s agents were awaiting
delivery of a new motor for the subject scrubber at the time he arrived at the Number 4 section to
inspect it. Tr. 237, 269-70.

With respect to the gravity of the charged violation, Inspector Meddings explained that a
scrubber that fails to emit the required volume of air may lead to an accumulation of excessive
dust, the inhalation of which can cause permanently disabling illnesses to miners, such as black
lung disease and silicosis. Tr. 194, 202; S’s Ex. 1. He also testified that dust may act as an
ignition source. Tr. 241-42. He determined that the alleged violation was reasonably likely to
cause an injury or illness, testifying that the subject scrubber “had been used all day shift” and
“was still in operation” at the time of his inspection. Tr. 202-03; S’s Ex. 1. He also noted that
Respondent was currently “cutting approximately 12 inches of sandstone / shale roof which
produces excessive dust.” S’s Ex. 1. Inspector Meddings admitted that he did not observe any
dust, however. Tr. 242. He also determined that four miners would be affected by the violative
condition, but he was unable to explain this assessment:

A: Normally I put -- and I could go back through my notes again, normally | put,
if there’s two buggie operators and a miner operator, I normally put three.

% This reference to a “Magna Healy gauge” appears to be a transcription error, as the Secretary
identified this device in her Post-Hearing Brief as a “magnahelic gauge.” Secretary’s Post-
Hearing Brief (“S’s Br.”) at 4. In addition, Inspector Meddings recorded in his field notes, which
were admitted into evidence as Secretary’s Exhibit 7, that the day shift foreman informed him
that the output of the subject scrubber had been measured prior to Inspector Meddings’
inspection also using a “magnahelic gauge.” S’s Ex. 7.



Q: If you’d like to take a look --

A: Yeah, there may have been three shuttle cars hauling underneath him. I’'m not
for sure. I didn’t put in my notes where the extra man came from, so you know,
I’m not exactly one hundred percent sure where he came from.

Tr. 203-04; S’s Ex. 1. Because he determined that a reasonable likelihood existed that a miner
would be afflicted with a serious illness, Inspector Meddings characterized the alleged violation
as significant and substantial in nature. Tr. 203; S’s Ex. 1. Finally, Inspector Meddings
explained that he found Respondent to have been moderately negligent in committing the
violation based upon his belief that the day shift foreman had examined the subject scrubber but
had failed to measure the output of the scrubber accurately. Tr. 204-05.

In conjunction with Citation Number 8231582, Inspector Meddings issued Citation
Number 8231583 at 3:45 p.m. on August 5, 2009. Tr. 207; S’s Ex. 2, 7. According to his
testimony and field notes, he was informed by the day shift foreman upon arriving at the Number
4 section that the dust parameters and output of the subject scrubber had been measured during
an onshift examination performed within 45 minutes of his arrival and that those readings
complied with the mine’s revised basic ventilation plan. Tr. 204-07; S’s Ex. 7. Inspector
Meddings concluded that the examination was inadequate, explaining, “this citation was issued
because the scrubber, which I cited previously, wasn’t working properly, and the foreman told
me itwas . ... | checked it twice and never could get it up to speed. So it never was working
properly.” Tr. 207.

Finally, Inspector Meddings issued Citation Number 8231586 at 6:45 p.m. on August 5,
20009, alleging that Respondent failed to maintain a roof bolter machine being used on the active
039-0 MMU in permissible condition based upon his observations that: 1) the main control
panel lacked two flat washers; 2) the cable reel was not fully insulated in three locations; 3) the
half inch conduit was not properly repaired in two locations; and 4) an opening existed in the
half inch conduit on the offside area work light, exposing an inner cable. S’s Ex. 3, 7; Tr. 209—
10, 243-46. Inspector Meddings terminated the Citation less than 30 minutes after issuing it,
noting that the underlying conditions had been repaired. S’s Ex. 3; Tr. 213.

With respect to the gravity of the violation, Inspector Meddings determined that an injury
was reasonably likely to result based upon the frequency with which Respondent used this roof
bolter machine, the number of cited defects, and the high volume of methane liberated by the
mine. S’s Ex. 3, 7; Tr. 211, 247. He explained that the violation exposed the two miners
operating the machine to the hazard of fire or explosion and that because this hazard could result
in a range of injuries or even a fatality, he designated the injury that could reasonably be
expected as permanently disabling. S’s Ex. 3, 7; Tr. 210-12. He also characterized the violation
as significant and substantial in nature based upon the reasonable likelihood that the miners
would sustain serious injuries. S’s Ex. 3; Tr. 212. Finally, he determined that Respondent was
moderately negligent in committing the violation based upon the number of cited defects. S’s
Ex. 3,7; Tr. 212-13.



When questioned by counsel for Respondent, Inspector Meddings acknowledged that the
cable stored on the cited cable reel was fully insulated and intact. Tr. 244. He also
acknowledged that he had cited defective conduits but not the underlying cables, indicating that
those cables were fully insulated and undamaged. Tr. 244-46. Further, he admitted that he was
not aware of any instances of a fully insulated cable causing an ignition of methane or energizing
the frame of equipment and thereby creating a risk of shock or electrocution. Tr. 246.

On behalf of Respondent, Keith Stevens offered an account of the August 5, 2009
inspection that diverged significantly from that of Inspector Meddings. In particular, Mr.
Stevens testified that he and Inspector Meddings arrived at the Number 4 section of the mine on
August 5, 2009, and immediately separated, with Inspector Meddings “tak[ing] off” and
“check[ing], you know, just everything,” and Mr. Stevens proceeding to the continuous miner
machine at issue. Tr. 308-09. Mr. Stevens testified that he went to the continuous miner
machine within four or five minutes of their arrival at the section. Tr. 309. At the time, Mr.
Stevens explained, the continuous miner machine was not mining coal or even located at the
face; rather, it had been relocated “back the second block” and Respondent’s agents were in the
process of removing the scrubber motor. Tr. 309-10.

According to Mr. Stevens, he observed Inspector Meddings inspecting the “pinner”™
approximately 20 minutes later, and he moved to join him. Tr. 310-11. Mr. Stevens confirmed
that Inspector Meddings found four deficiencies on the machine. Tr. 311-20, 325-27. However,
he testified, in essence, that these deficiencies were merely technical violations that did not
present any hazards or risks of injury to the miners because none of the cables underlying the
cited conduits had sustained any damage. Tr. 311-19.

Mr. Stevens explained that he subsequently returned to the continuous miner machine,
where he was informed that it was “ready.” Tr. 320. He presumed that Inspector Meddings,
meanwhile, “was going on across the section.” Tr. 320. Upon seeing Inspector Meddings, Mr.
Stevens approached and invited him to inspect the machine. Tr. 321. Claiming that Inspector
Meddings appeared upset or frustrated at the time, Mr. Stevens testified that Inspector Meddings
proceeded to inspect the scrubber affixed to the continuous miner machine in the following
manner:

A: He just grabbed the PO tube and just -- he usually sticks it down there so far,
then they’ll raise it up and read it, raise it up and another reading. [ mean, he just
(indicates) laid it down. Never even looked at the gauge. Said it won’t pass. Just
walked off. So we went out.

* * *

Q: How quick did he do it?

> Prompted by counsel for Respondent, Mr. Stevens affirmed that the term “pinner” is another
way to describe a roof bolter machine. Tr. 311.



A: | mean, whatever time it took to put the PO tube in there and out. | mean,
there was no -- there was no (indicating) I didn’t see him look at the gauge, and
that’s what shocked me. I mean, it was just -- [ was awed. I couldn’t believe it.
Q: Did you see him write down any numbers?

No, sir. At that point, | never. Not at that time. | never.

Did he ask you to write down any numbers?

> Qo 2

No.

*
*
*

Did you see him even look at the gauge?

No.

o 2 Q

And what did he say to you after he had (indicating) —
A: “It won’t pass,” and just turned and walked away.
Tr. 321-23.

B. AUGUST 20, 2009

On August 20, 2009, Inspector Meddings continued his E0O1 inspection of Respondent’s
Number 3 Mine at the Number 2 section of the mine. Tr. 215; S’s EX. 4, 7. During the
inspection, he observed accumulations of loose coal and coal fines in numerous locations along
the ribs and roadways in the nine entries and connecting cross cuts comprising the Number 2
section. Tr. 214-16; S’s Ex. 4, 7. Inspector Meddings depicted the specific locations of these
accumulations in a diagram of the Number 2 section that he sketched in his field notes. Tr. 215;
S’s Ex. 7. The accumulations ranged in depth from four to 15 inches along the ribs and two to
four inches in the roadways. Tr. 215-16; S’s Ex. 4, 7. Between the Number 8 and 9 entries,
Respondent’s agents had also “punched that break through” and failed to “clean the gob up in
there,” resulting in an accumulation of material the depth of which was three feet. Tr. 216; S’s
Ex. 7. Based upon these observations, Inspector Meddings issued Citation Number 8236506 at
8:15 a.m., citing the accumulation of combustible materials in violation of 30 C.F.R. § 75.400.
S’s Ex. 4. He subsequently terminated the Citation when he returned to the Number 2 section on
August 24, 2009, and recorded that the accumulations had been removed from the cited areas.
Tr. 220, 254-55; S’s Ex. 4.

At the hearing, Inspector Meddings testified that “probably some of [the accumulations
were] wet” but that “the bulk of it . . . is normally dry material” because it dries as time elapses
and it is run over by mining equipment. Tr. 216. He further testified that accumulations of
combustible materials create a hazard of fire or explosion. Tr. 214-15. As an ignition source, he
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identified a noncompliant electrical cable that he also cited during his inspection of the Number
2 section on August 20, 2009. Tr. 217-18; S’s Ex. 4, 7. He further noted the amount of methane
liberated at Number 3 Mine as 1,200,000 cubic feet every 24 hours. Tr. 216-17; S’s Ex. 4.

Inspector Meddings characterized the violation of 30 C.F.R. § 75.400 as significant and
substantial in nature based upon the extent of the accumulations; the presence of an ignition
source, which created a reasonable likelihood that an accident would occur; and the number of
miners exposed to the hazard. S’s Ex. 4, 7; Tr. 218-19. According to Inspector Meddings,
because the hazard created by the violation could result in a range of injuries or even a fatality,
he designated the injury or illness that could reasonably be expected as permanently disabling in
the Citation.® S’s Ex. 4; Tr. 218-19. Finally, he determined that the violation resulted from a
moderate level of negligence, even though “[he] probably could have justified high easily.” Tr.
219.

When questioned by counsel for Respondent, Inspector Meddings affirmed that the
noncompliant electrical cable that he pointed to as an ignition source had sustained damage to
the “outer jacket” but that “[t]he cable was still covered with shielding” and “the inner
conductors were still insulated.” Tr. 251-52. Inspector Meddings admitted that he was not
aware of any such cables igniting coal. Tr. 252.

Ronnie Johnson, the chief electrician on the day shift at the time of the alleged violations,
accompanied Inspector Meddings during his inspection on August 20, 2009, and was served
Citation Number 8236506. S’s Ex. 4; Tr. 330-32. Mr. Johnson acknowledged that he did not
accompany Inspector Meddings through each entry of the Number 2 section, that some
accumulations of coal were present in those areas that he did travel with Inspector Meddings, and
that he did not have any reason to disagree with the diagram of the section contained in Inspector
Meddings’ field notes. Tr. 345, 349. He disputed the extent of these accumulations, however.

In particular, he testified that Inspector Meddings “started complaining about how dirty the
roadways looked” upon their arrival at the Number 2 section but that he thought they appeared
“kind of normal” and “[n]ot excessively dirty.” Tr. 334, 337. He opined, “[i]t had been dusted,
but I recollect it had been real black. Probably been rock dusted over some coal, what had been
done.” Tr. 334-35. Mr. Johnson explained that he and Inspector Meddings proceeded on foot
up the Number 4 entry to the face of the section, where the conditions also appeared to be
“normal” and not “excessively dirty.” Tr. 335, 346-47. While he admitted that he did not
observe Inspector Meddings take any measurements, he further disputed the depth of the
accumulations along the rib of the entry, testifying that they appeared to be only two to four
inches deep, rather than the four to 15 inches cited by Inspector Meddings. Tr. 336-37, 346; see
also Tr. 347. Mr. Johnson speculated that these accumulations had resulted from Respondent’s
agents cleaning the entry of loose coal with a “scoop” and that excess coal had “rolled over the
scoop bucket when they went through.” Tr. 336; see also Tr. 347. He testified that he did not
observe any miners operating the scoop but that he heard it, leading him to believe that miners
were cleaning elsewhere in the section at the time of Inspector Meddings’ inspection. Tr. 335—
37.

® In his field notes, however, Inspector Meddings designated the injury or illness that could
reasonably be expected as lost workdays or restricted duty. S’s Ex. 7. The Secretary failed to
offer any explanation for this discrepancy.
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Finally, Mr. Johnson denied that the noncompliant electrical cable cited by Inspector
Meddings posed a risk of igniting the alleged accumulations based upon a number of
considerations, including that “it was too far away” and that the shielding would prevent arcing.
Tr. 339-40; see also Tr. 351. He explained that he sought the opinion of an electrical engineer
on the issue and that the electrical engineer agreed with his assessment. Tr. 340. He further
testified that the quantity of methane liberated by Number 3 Mine was irrelevant to the Citation
because none was present at the time and the mine is ventilated by 600 million cubic feet of air
per day. Tr.341-42.

C. AUGUST 27, 2009

Inspector Meddings continued his EO1 inspection of Respondent’s Number 3 Mine on
August 27,2009. S’s Ex. 5, 7. As part of that day’s inspection, he inspected the equipment in
the Number 4 section of the mine and found a gap in the right side tram panel of a continuous
miner machine that measured 0.025 inches, which exceeded the limit of 0.004 considered to be
permissible. Tr. 221-22; S’s Ex. 5, 7. Accordingly, Inspector Meddings issued Citation Number
8236514 at 2:07 a.m., citing Respondent for a failure to maintain the machine in permissible
condition, in violation of 30 C.F.R. § 75.503. S’s Ex. 5. He subsequently terminated the
Citation on August 28, 2009, and recorded that the gap had been closed. Tr. 224; S’s Ex. 5.

Inspector Meddings testified that a failure to maintain a piece of equipment such as a
continuous miner machine in permissible condition exposes miners to the hazard of fire. Tr. 221.
He also noted the amount of methane liberated at Number 3 Mine as 1,200,000 cubic feet every
24 hours. Tr.221; S’s Ex. 5, 7. He admitted, however, that he did not detect any methane at the
continuous miner machine at the time he issued the Citation. Tr. 256-57. He also admitted that
he does not possess any knowledge of the particular components of the machine enclosed by the
subject panel or whether they are capable of arcing or sparking. Tr. 258.

Inspector Meddings characterized the violation as reasonably likely to cause injury or
iliness based upon the frequency with which the subject equipment is used by Respondent, the
related exposure of miners to the condition, and the amount of methane liberated at the mine. Tr.
222; S’s Ex. 5, 7. He cited these considerations in characterizing the violation as significant and
substantial in nature as well, testifying that any accident would be of a “serious nature to the
miners around it or on the section.” Tr. 223; S’s Ex. 5. According to Inspector Meddings,
because the hazard created by the violation could result in a range of injuries or even a fatality,
he designated the injury or illness that could reasonably be expected as permanently disabling.
Tr. 222-23; S’s Ex. 5, 7. Finally, Inspector Meddings determined that the violation resulted
from a low degree of negligence because he typically finds multiple violative conditions when
inspecting the permissibility of equipment but the impermissible gap in the electrical panel was
the only issue that he detected on the continuous miner machine. Tr. 223-24; S’s Ex. 5, 7.

Jimmy Rowe, the chief electrician on the third shift at Respondent’s Number 3 Mine,
accompanied Inspector Meddings during his inspection on August 27, 2009, and was served
Citation Number 8236514. S’s Ex. 5; Tr. 293, 297. While he did not dispute the existence of a
gap in the right side tram panel, he challenged the likelihood that the condition would injure a

12



miner, testifying that the electrical components enclosed by that particular panel were “confined
to their own . . . sealed containers” and incapable of arcing or sparking. Tr. 297-300. Mr. Rowe
contrasted the components enclosed by the right side tram panel with those enclosed by the left
side tram panel, which protects “your pump contactor, your cutter contractor, your conveyor
contactors and your scrubber contactors.” Tr. 298. He testified that he would have agreed with
Inspector Meddings’ assessment of the gravity of the violation had it occurred on this latter
panel. Tr. 298-99. He explained that he does not possess any knowledge of the type of
component found behind the subject panel generating an arc or spark and igniting methane in a
mine. Tr. 302-03. Finally, he explained that he does not possess any knowledge of a miner
coming into contact with an electrical component through a gap of the size found by Inspector
Meddings on the subject panel. Tr. 303.

Based upon his familiarity with the equipment at Respondent’s Number 3 Mine and with
the continuous miner machine at issue in Citation Number 8236514, Mr. Johnson also opined
that the components enclosed by the right side tram panel were incapable of arcing or sparking
due to an absence of moving components. Tr. 342-43, 348. Accordingly, Mr. Johnson
disagreed with Inspector Meddings’ assessment of the gravity of the violation:

Q: And Mr. Meddings issued it as reasonably likely to result in permanently
disabling injury to 13 miners. Do you agree with that?

A: No.
Q: And why not?

A: There’s no emission source in that panel, plus it was not stated that there was
any methane there, anyway.

Q: So what is the risk of a methane explosion, in your mind?
A: Very low.
Q: What was the risk of a methane ignition, in your mind?

A: Me, myself, ’ve been there at this mine ten years and I’ve never found in the
working face explosive mixtures myself. | carry a spotter continuous with me.

Q: So what was the risk, in your mind, of a methane ignition?
A: None.

Tr. 344.
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D. AUGUST 28, 2009

Inspector Meddings continued his EO1 inspection of the Number 4 section of
Respondent’s Number 3 Mine on August 28, 2009. S’s Ex. 6, 7. As part of that day’s
inspection, he measured the level of methane present in the Number 2 entry of the section and
found it to be 0.2 percent. S’s Ex. 6, 7. He subsequently attempted to measure the air velocity
behind the “line curtain” in the Number 2 entry using first a calibrated anemometer and then
chemical smoke, but he was unable to detect any movement. Tr. 226; S’s Ex. 6, 7. He
thereafter issued Citation Number 8236515 at 5:15 a.m., citing Respondent for a failure to
comply with its approved ventilation plan. Tr. 224-25; S’s Ex. 6, 7. This plan requires
Respondent to maintain a minimum air velocity of 1000 CFM at the “[i]nby end of line curtain[s]
in idle places.” S’s Ex. 9; see also Tr. 225. Inspector Meddings terminated the Citation 45
minutes later, noting that “[t]he wing curtain was extended into the intersection and 4050 CFM
was measured using a calibrated anemometer.” S’s EX. 6; Tr. 230-31.

Inspector Meddings noted that the foreman, Rick Wright, had recorded the date and time
and his initials in the Number 2 entry approximately 22 minutes prior to issuance of the Citation.
Tr. 227-28; S’s Ex. 6, 7. He also noted that the line curtain did not extend into the
“intersection,” thereby hindering its ability “to catch the air and shove it up in the entry.” Tr.
228; S’s Ex. 7.

Inspector Meddings testified that a deficient level of air flow in a mine may lead to the
accumulation of methane to explosive concentrations. Tr. 225-26. He explained that he
characterized the cited condition as unlikely to result in an injury, and not significant and
substantial in nature, because he did not detect any such accumulation at the time of his
inspection. Tr. 228-30; S’s Ex. 6, 7. According to Inspector Meddings, should an accumulation
of methane develop and cause an injury, it would be permanently disabling because the hazard
created by the violation could result in a range of injuries or even a fatality. Tr. 229; S’s Ex. 6, 7.
Finally, Inspector Meddings determined that the violation resulted from a high degree of
negligence because the foreman had checked the conditions of the entry only 22 minutes prior to
the inspection, as reflected by the date, time, and initials recorded in the entry. Tr. 230; S’s Ex.
6, 7.

Upon questioning by counsel for Respondent, Inspector Meddings affirmed that
Respondent’s agents were performing a “belt move” and “power move” and that no equipment
or miners were present in the Number 2 entry at the time of his inspection. Tr. 260; see also S’s
Ex. 7. While Inspector Meddings testified that equipment was “tramming around the section,”
he also affirmed that equipment is not permitted to enter inby the last open crosscut before a “gas
test” is performed. Tr. 261. In addition, Inspector Meddings testified that he could not recall
whether a rock had dislodged the line curtain out in the intersection and that such an occurrence
“absolutely” could reduce the amount of air reaching the mine face. Tr. 262. He admitted that
he had “no idea” when the line curtain had fallen and that he did not ask the section foreman as
to whether it had been properly hung at the time he checked the entry, even though such
information could have been pertinent. Tr. 262.
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Inspector Meddings also admitted that he did not inform Jim Rowe, who was
accompanying him during his inspection, of the Citation at the time he issued it. Tr. 259-60.
During his testimony, Mr. Rowe confirmed that Inspector Meddings neglected to notify him of
the Citation at that time. Tr. 296. Mr. Rowe further testified that he lacked any knowledge of
the circumstances surrounding the Citation, explaining that he did not accompany Inspector
Meddings to the face of the entry and that he generally waits at the mouth of the entry during
inspections. Tr. 295-97.

V. FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

A. CITATION NUMBER 8231582: ALLEGED VIOLATION OF 30 C.F.R.
8§ 75.370(a)(1)

1. ALLEGED VIOLATION AND PROPOSED PENALTY

At 3:40 p.m. on August 5, 2009, Inspector Meddings issued Citation Number 8231582 to
Respondent pursuant to Section 104(a) of the Act, 30 U.S.C. 8 814(a), alleging in the “Condition
or Practice” section as follows:

The approved ventilation plan is not being followed on the active 039-0 MMU.
The Joy Continuous Mining Machine CO# 0134 scrubber output is only 3,739
CFM (78% whats required). The approved plan requires the minimum 4,800
CFM. This section is cutting approximately 12 inches of sandstone / shale roof
which produces excessive dust. An improper working scrubber allows excessive
amounts of rock/coal dust to be suspended into the mine atmosphere. This section
produces coal two shift per day and average of five days per week. This condition
exposes these miners to the hazards associated with black lung disease that would
result in permanently disabling illness. The operator immediately began repairs
on the mining machine.

S’s Ex 1. The Citation further alleges that Respondent’s failure to comply with the approved
ventilation plan constitutes a violation of the mandatory safety standard governing underground
coal mines set forth at 30 C.F.R. § 75.370(a)(1), which requires operators to develop and follow
a ventilation plan designed to control methane and respirable dust in a manner suitable to the
conditions and mining system at the mine, subject to the approval of the district manager. Id.

Inspector Meddings determined that Respondent’s alleged violation of 30 C.F.R. §
75.370(a)(1) was reasonably likely to cause injury or illness, that such injury or illness could
reasonably be expected to be permanently disabling, and that four people would be affected. S’s
Ex. 1. He also determined that the violation was significant and substantial in nature and that
Respondent’s degree of negligence in committing the violation was moderate. Id.

For the alleged violation, the Secretary proposed the assessment of a civil penalty in the
amount of $1,530.
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2. LIABILITY

As set forth above, Citation Number 8231582 alleges that Respondent failed to comply
with the basic revised ventilation plan governing its Number 3 Mine on August 5, 2009, based
upon Inspector Meddings’ determination that the scrubber affixed to the continuous miner
machine in the active 039-0 MMU failed to generate a volume of air that met the minimum
threshold required by the plan. S’s Ex. 1. In her Post-Hearing Brief, the Secretary cites the
testimony and field notes of Inspector Meddings and the observations he recorded in the body of
the Citation to support the alleged violation. Secretary’s Post-Hearing Brief (“S’s Br.”) at 3-4
(citing Tr. 193, 196-98, 200-01; S’s Ex. 1, 7). Respondent, on the other hand, claims that
Inspector Meddings “act[ed] outside the bounds of his authority to issue a citation[] without a
factual basis, let alone underlying legal merit.” Respondent’s Post-Hearing Brief (“R’s Br.”) at
3-4. More specifically, Respondent argues that the testimony of Mr. Stevens establishes that
Inspector Meddings performed a “non-existent, invalid test” of the subject scrubber and that the
Citation, consequently, was “issued improvidently”” and should be vacated. R’s Br. 2—4.

Upon consideration of the evidence presented by the parties concerning Inspector
Meddings’ inspection of the subject scrubber, the undersigned finds in favor of the Secretary. At
the hearing, Inspector Meddings credibly described in significant detail the technique that he
typically uses to measure the output of scrubbers, and he maintained that he measured the output
of the subject scrubber in the same manner. Tr. 197-99, 238-39. He also recorded in his field
notes a series of measurements that he collected from the subject scrubber and the calculations
that he performed based upon those measurements, which corroborate his testimony and are also
deemed credible given their specificity and contemporaneous nature. S’s Ex. 7. Finally, the
considerable experience of Inspector Meddings in the coal mining industry lends further
credibility to his account of the inspection. Altogether, this evidence compels a finding that
Inspector Meddings properly measured the output of the scrubber and found it to be 3739 CFM,
in violation of Respondent’s basic revised ventilation plan.

Respondent failed to elicit any conflicting testimony from Inspector Meddings or offer
any alternative explanation for the measurements and calculations set forth in his field notes.
The account of the inspection offered by Mr. Stevens also fails to sufficiently rebut this
evidence. Above all, the undersigned finds that the evidence presented by Inspector Meddings is
simply more reliable than that offered by Mr. Stevens. Unlike Inspector Meddings, Mr. Stevens
did not record any contemporaneous notes regarding the citations at issue, and he testified at the
hearing based solely on his memory of the events underlying those citations, events which
occurred over two years before. Tr. 328. This consideration does not necessarily discredit his
testimony, and indeed, he maintained at the hearing that he did not have any reason to question
his memory, particularly of the suspect manner in which Inspector Meddings measured the
output of the subject scrubber. Tr. 329. Mr. Stevens expressed hesitation about certain events,
however, due to the amount of activity occurring in Number 3 Mine on the day of the inspection
and the passage of time since that day. For example, when asked whether he accompa